RECEIVED

Jul 02 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Sumter County

Honorable George M. McFaddin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WALTER MURREY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001795

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by denying appellant immunity from prosecution, pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-11-440 (C), where appellant was not engaged in unlawful activity in a place he had a right to be, a hotel where he stayed with his his co-workers, appellant and his co-workers were threatened by the drug dealing decedent, appellant legitimately felt he and his co-workers faced death or great bodily injury due to the drug dealer's threats and actions and the court erroneously reasoned appellant had a duty to retreat and that "conflicting evidence" made self-defense a jury issue?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Walter Murrey, Jr., was indicted at the January 11, 2018 term of the Sumter County grand jury for the offense of murder. R. 472-473. His case was called to trial on October 14, 2019 before the Honorable George M. McFadden, Jr., and a jury. Michael Routzong represented appellant. Assistant solicitor John Meadors represented the state. R. 1.

On October 18, 2019, the jury found appellant guilty of murder. R. 470, ll. 6-11. Judge McFadden sentenced appellant to thirty years' imprisonment. R. 471, ll. 2-8.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013); see State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 411, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011) (recognizing that the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007); State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 290, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016).

ARGUMENT

The court erred by denying appellant immunity from prosecution, pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-11-440 (C), where appellant was not engaged in unlawful activity in a place he had a right to be, a hotel where he stayed with his co-workers, appellant and his co-workers were threatened by the drug dealing decedent, appellant legitimately felt he and his co-workers faced death or great bodily injury due to the drug dealer's threats and actions especially and the court impermissibly reasoned appellant had a duty to retreat and that "conflicting evidence" made self-defense a jury issue

Relevant Facts

The judge noted that the defense was seeking immunity from prosecution and that a pre-trial hearing would be held pursuant to State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). In this case, the defense was seeking immunity pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-11-440 (C), the "stand your ground" provision of the statute. R. 3, l. 3 – 6, l. 9.

Defense counsel Routzong told the judge the evidence would show that appellant had been hired to work on the Shaw Air Force Base hanging drywall. While being driven to Sumter to work, his new co-worker, Caleb Gomez, told him he had been robbed at the hotel where the co-workers stayed while working on the Shaw Air Force Base. Upon arrival in Sumter that same day, May 17, 2017, appellant worked at the Shaw Air Force Base and returned that night with his co-workers to that hotel, the Quality Inn. R. 6, l. 10 – 7, l. 2.

The Shaw Air Force Base workers then grilled chicken outside of appellant's room at the Quality Inn. Unfortunately, the decedent, Brandon Cummings, an illegal drug dealer, "interrupted the gathering and asked for a cigarette lighter. Mr. Murrey claims that he was, at that moment, told that Brandon Cummings is the person that robbed Caleb Gomez." R. 7, ll. 3-9.

Defense counsel told the judge that appellant later saw Gomez backed up against the wall by the decedent. The decedent initiated this confrontation, and “Rafael Rodriguez and Cody Shelton [his co-workers] all agree that the group of coworkers asked Cummings to leave them alone. All agree that Mr. Cummings threatened to shoot them.” Appellant had returned to his room to get his gun [an apparent .22 caliber] because of the hostile environment. R. 8, ll. 1-15.

Appellant lost sight of the decedent, but he later saw him coming from behind a bush, and “[h]e appeared to have something in his hand. Mr. Murrey says he feared that Mr. Cummings would fulfill his promise to shoot Mr. Murrey and his co-workers. Mr. Murrey pulled a gun from his pocket and fired at Cummings until he reasonably believed the danger to himself and others were concluded—was concluded.” R. 8, l. 23 – 9, l. 4.

Appellant reasonably believed that the decedent would fulfill his threat and kill Appellant Walter Murrey, Jr. at that moment. Appellant Murrey was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty. He was acting lawfully in a place he had a right to be, and he was entitled to immunity. R. 8, l. 23 – 9, l. 21.

The defense then called Appellant Murrey as the first witness during the immunity hearing. Appellant was thirty-two years old, and he was from Louisiana. R. 10, l. 6 – 11, l. 9. After a background check, appellant was hired to work on the Shaw Air Force Base. New co-worker Rafael Rodriguez picked appellant up from the Augusta Greyhound Bus Station and drove him to the Shaw Air Force Base. During that ride from Augusta to Sumter, another co-worker and passenger, Caleb Gomez, “informed me, he said there’s a lot that goes on at the hotel.” Gomez informed appellant that drug dealers and gang members frequented the hotel. R. 11, l. 23 – 12, l. 23.

Appellant said he understood from his future co-workers that they really only used the hotel to sleep at night and to “wash up.” They would be working at the air force base most of the time, but the hotel was nonetheless dangerous because there had been robberies there. Appellant was told that one man had tried to buy marijuana, and the buyer was cheated out of his money in a frightening manner. R. 12, l. 21 – 13, l. 6.

Regardless, appellant related that he was happy to have a job at Shaw Air Force Base because he needed the money. The men arrived at Shaw Air Force Base around noon, and appellant worked until five o’clock. He then went to the hotel with his co-workers, and after checking in to the hotel, he remembered his co-workers gathered together to barbeque dinner. R. 13, l. 16 – 15, l. 21.

The decedent showed up at this time, and Caleb Gomez let the other men know that the decedent was the man who had robbed him on a prior occasion. R. 15, l. 22 – 17, l. 6. Appellant testified that the decedent acted like he was armed, and appellant was very apprehensive of the decedent for that reason, and the fact that Gomez said the decedent had robbed him in the past. R. 17, l. 2 – 18, l. 19. The decedent acted like he wanted to bring on an altercation with the co-workers.

Another large man, not the decedent, asked appellant if he could come by his room. Appellant said he asked this large man, “like what you mean.” Appellant said this apparently gay man acted in an aggressive manner towards him, so appellant went to his hotel room, and “I put the gun in my pocket before I go back out [be]cause I wanted to go to sleep. But I wanted to make sure the guys [were] all right with all that happened at the hotel...” R. 19, l. 6 – 21, l. 3.

As appellant walked into the common areas of the hotel, he saw Caleb Gomez backed up against a wall by the decedent. Appellant asked the decedent, in an attempt to deescalate the

situation, whether he knew Caleb. The decedent told appellant he did not know Caleb, and appellant then said that there was “no sense in arguing with somebody you don’t know. Just leave, you know. And, at that point, he [the decedent] started back at Caleb again, you know, to make the altercation worse, and I was like do you really know him. And he said no again but [he was] still looking at Caleb . . . while Caleb [was] up against the wall not saying nothing.” R. 21, l. 23 – 22, l. 4.

Appellant continued to try to deescalate the situation, but the decedent “exploded saying this is my town. This [is] my hotel. I run this. Y’all [are] not from around here. They don’t have no cameras. I’m going to be back. All you gonna hear is gunshots [the decedent said while] clapping his hands as he walked going past our room towards the back.” R. 22, ll. 11-17. Appellant interpreted the decedent’s continuous clapping of his hands as meaning there were going to be gunshots fired. Others interrupted it to mean the same thing. R. 22, ll. 20-25.

Appellant was shaking and worried after this confrontation because the decedent “had done been going in his pockets already, you know, and I ain’t know what he can have. At that point, when I got towards the end corner of the building, he had done already disappeared. When I got to the corner, I seen him again coming back, and, fearing for my life—” as appellant saw the decedent coming forward towards him – appellant shot him. Appellant testified that it appeared the decedent had something in his hand, and appellant feared being shot and killed because he believed the decedent was armed. R. 22, l. 25 – 24, l. 23.

On cross-examination by the assistant solicitor, appellant testified he did not call the police because “[I] was told the police were called when I was getting ready to call.” R. 30, ll. 7-13. Appellant’s roommate at the hotel had called the police. Appellant also told the solicitor that at the time of the shooting, he was escorting Cody, Rafael, and Caleb around the hotel since

he was the only one armed. The decedent had said “he was on his way back” to shoot them, and appellant told the solicitor “[I] was fixing to lose my life. It wasn’t like I just killed him. He threatened to kill us. I had to take him at his word cause, if not, that would of been my life, especially—” At this point, the solicitor interrupted appellant again. R. 36, l. 6 – 37, l. 12.

Appellant agreed that he went to work the next day and he did not mention the shooting. Appellant explained that he was suspicious of law enforcement because of what happened to him as a child. Appellant had to testify against his father as a child, and the police routinely came to the family home because his father was addicted to drugs. Appellant unfortunately viewed the police with suspicion based upon his childhood experiences. R. 38, l. 9 – 40, l. 16.

Appellant also related that his first appointed attorney did not call him back while he was in jail. Appellant did not get a preliminary hearing, and he felt abandoned by the system while he was in jail. These were the reasons appellant was not initially forthcoming with the police about having killed the decedent in self-defense. R. 40, l. 7 – 43, l. 16.

Appellant continued to explain to the solicitor that he was trying to be the peacekeeper on the night of the fatal shooting, but that the decedent was clapping his hands in a threatening manner, mimicking gunshots, and that he was afraid for his life. R. 48, l. 22 – 50, l. 17. The decedent was acting like he was going to shoot at the air force base workers while appellant tried to be the peacekeeper. R. 54, l. 1 – 57, l. 21.

Finally, on cross-examination, appellant said he did not remember how many times he shot at the decedent, but “like I said, it was about at least five shots, and, when I shot, I shot it all at once.” Appellant denied he stood over the decedent and shot him. R. 64, ll. 13-23.

On redirect examination, appellant repeated that the decedent acted like he was armed with a gun. Appellant was shaking and afraid for his life at the time, and he thought the decedent was going to kill him. R. 66, l. 9 – 68, l. 24.

Caleb Gomez testified that during the initial ride from North Augusta to Sumter, Caleb told appellant about the “crazy things” that happened at the hotel, “robberies and such” where the co-workers stayed. R. 71, l. 20 – 73, l. 18. Caleb described the coworkers from the Shaw Air Force Base as “easy pickings because we were coming from out of town. We didn’t know anybody, and we were just coming for work.” R. 72, l. 14 – 74, l. 21.

On the night of the fatal shooting, Caleb testified he thought the decedent was either going to rob him again, bully him, or intimidate him. “[H]e was mocking us the whole time.” Caleb felt very threatened and, when the decedent was clapping his hands, he thought the decedent was going to shoot everyone. R. 74, l. 11 – 76, l. 23.

On cross-examination, Caleb told the solicitor that the decedent told the men he was going to return the next day and kill them. Caleb explained that the decedent was threatening their lives and clapping his hands and saying that he was going to shoot and kill them. R. 82, l. 1 – 88, l. 20.

Thirty-one-year-old Rafael Rodriguez drove appellant and Caleb Gomez to the job site at Shaw Air Force Base from Augusta. R. 90, l. 12 – 91, l. 21. Rafael remembered seeing the decedent around the Quality Inn, where the Shaw Air Force Base workers stayed. R. 92, l. 7 – 93, l. 25.

When Rafael saw the decedent that fatal night, “the vibe [] was already there.” Rafael explained he had heard the “stories” about the decedent, and “I felt like something was wrong.” R. 93, l. 1 – 94, l. 16.

Rafael felt “like my life was in danger, and everyone else’s life could of been in danger also.” Rafael related how the decedent was clapping in a threatening manner, meaning to convey he was going to kill someone. R. 95, l. 5 – 96, l. 4. Rafael explained that the decedent had threatened to shoot him and that the decedent was constantly clapping his hands. Rafael did not know if the decedent was armed that night. R. 96, ll. 1-21; r. 97, ll. 1-13. However, just before Rafael heard the gunshots, he heard a threat, and he heard the decedent clapping his hands. R. 96, l. 1 – 97, l. 13.

On cross-examination, Rafael said he thought his supervisor terminating appellant because of the shooting was a harsh action. R. 99, l. 13 – 100, l. 9. Rafael testified that he had asked the decedent to leave or “go away” that evening because the decedent was a troublemaker. R. 107, ll. 1-14.

The state called the decedent’s girlfriend, Lashay Andrews, as a witness. R. 108, l. 21 – 109, l. 20. Andrews had known the decedent since she was thirteen years old. R. 109, l. 24 – 110, l. 7. Andrews admitted on cross-examination that the decedent was a drug dealer. The decedent dealt cocaine, but she claimed that he only bought marijuana but did not also sell that drug. R. 120, l. 7 – 122, l. 1.

Andrews took the decedent to the Quality Inn at about 9:15 p.m. on May 17, 2017. The decedent went to the Quality Inn to deal in drugs. Andrews claimed that despite the fact that the decedent was a cocaine dealer, he did not carry a gun. R. 117, ll. 5-10.

She dropped the decedent off and parked in the parking lot. She went inside the hotel to use the bathroom. She said she heard arguing when she returned to the car. She maintained that she saw appellant walking behind the decedent. She contended that the decedent was saying, “Fuck you, nigga, and then he was like, you know, leave me alone. I’m ‘bout to go.” R. 112, ll.

11-22. Andrews claimed that at this point, appellant shot the decedent. R. 112, l. 11 – 113, l. 6. Andrews identified appellant from the second line up she was shown by the police. R. 124, ll. 3-17.

Arguments of Counsel

Defense counsel argued appellant was entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Appellant had proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he was “at a place where he was allowed to be. He was attacked by another. He was not engaged in unlawful activity. He had no duty to retreat, and, Your Honor, he testified and, and you heard from everybody—there’s agreement on everything, Judge. Everyone agrees that he was, that he—that Brandon Cummings threatened the entire group. That was the testimony. And Mr. Murrey was standing there. He heard that threat.” R. 125, ll. 6-19.

Defense counsel noted that appellant became armed for the protection of himself and others, and that appellant was only in town to work at Shaw Air Force Base. He was not buying or purchasing drugs. The only reason appellant shot the decedent was because he feared for his life. Appellant had a room at the hotel, and he was there legally. R. 125, l. 6 – 126, l. 21.

The judge agreed that appellant possessing a firearm, even though he was not allowed to because of a prior conviction, did not disqualify him from his right to act in self-defense, given the holding of State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999) on that legal point. Defense counsel observed that appellant had the right to defend himself from the threat. The defense had proved by a preponderance of the evidence that appellant was entitled to immunity from prosecution. R. 125, l. 6 – 126, l. 21.

The solicitor argued that it was “a credibility issue,” and he claimed the testimony was inconsistent. R. 127, ll. 5-21. The solicitor repeated, “Judge, credibility, believability

throughout.” R. 127, l. 5 – 128, l. 2. The solicitor claimed that appellant could have gone in his room and gone to bed. The solicitor was arguing appellant had a duty to retreat. The solicitor maintained that, although the decedent was saying he was going to return “[a]nd get y’all. This is my world. This is my hood,” and that he was clapping his hands, that the decedent was leaving. R. 128, l. 19 – 130, l. 19. There were “numerous issues of credibility, and respectfully think this is a matter that a jury should decide.” R. 130, ll. 17-24.

Defense counsel countered that, under the totality of the circumstances, the record showed appellant had been up for thirty-seven hours and that he had only come to Sumter to work. Appellant’s reaction to the decedent’s actions – based on the past problems at the hotel that appellant knew of – was reasonable. R. 132, l. 1 – 134, l. 8. The testimony of Andrews, the decedent’s girlfriend of many years, showed her bias, but the record showed by a preponderance of the evidence that appellant acted reasonably in self-defense that evening. R. 131, l. 3 – 134, l. 21.

The judge said he would return to the courtroom shortly and issue his ruling. R. 134, l. 22 – 135, l. 25.

The judge then ruled he was not going to grant appellant immunity. R. 136, l. 2 – 137, l. 24. The judge cited the testimony of Caleb Gomez about being drunk and reasoned it went to “the element of credibility and believability.” The judge stated:

So I don't know how I can even cross the threshold or get to those elements when I have so much trouble believing so much of what was said that was contradictory at times, several times. And then, at the very end, we have a clash, a very divergent clash of versions of what happened. I don't find that Mr. -- find the names here. I got so many names going on right now. That the Defendant met his burden of proof, which wasn't high. It wasn't that high. I would have preferred much straightforward testimony and answers to a lot of questions. But, if I were to cross over and get past that into the Duncan and statutory matters, it, it, it troubles me that this

happened in a breezeway. Not in, not in his room. Not even near his room. And then it's the, the, the -- this -- the statement made by Mr. Meadors that he interjected himself into it. Now, I understand Mr., Mr. Routzong's position on that, but I'm, I'm not, I'm not sure he was entirely free of getting involved in this situation, and to what degree he was involved. So, for that reasons -- for those reasons, then I, I respectfully deny the motion not, not because of anything Mr. Routzong did, Mr. Routzong did or did not do. So, that's out of the way now.

R. 137, ll. 1-24.

At the conclusion of the evidence when renewing his motion for a directed verdict, defense counsel also renewed his motion for the judge to find appellant immune from prosecution.¹ Defense counsel offered that because the judge had now heard all of the trial evidence, he was in a much better position to rule that the defense had shown by a preponderance of the evidence that appellant was immune from prosecution under the act. Importantly, though, defense counsel did not ask the judge to consider any evidence offered since the pre-trial immunity hearing since that pre-trial immunity evidence was the only evidence the court properly could consider. See State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 827 S.E.2d 564 (2019) which was issued almost six months prior to appellant's trial (filed March 27, 2019 and this trial was held from October 14-18, 2019). R. 440, l. 17 – 448, l. 21.

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