RECEIVED

Jul 01 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
The Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001795

THE STATERESPONDENT,

v.

WALTER MURREYAPPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103135

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Protection of Persons and Property Act (“The Act”) provides immunity from criminal prosecution for a person who has used deadly force if the trial court, after a *Duncan* hearing, finds the person was justified in using such force. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410 to 450 (2015); *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011) (setting forth the procedure, standard of review, and burden of proof for an immunity determination).

To put it plainly, to obtain immunity, a defendant must either satisfy all four elements of self-defense by a preponderance, to the trial court’s satisfaction, or three of the elements plus Sections (A) and (B) or Section (C) of the Act if it applies. *State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C. 108, 838 S.E.2d 491 (2019). A preponderance “stated simply is that evidence which convinces us as to its truth.” *Semken v. Semken*, 379 S.C. 71, 75, 664 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2008). The trial court must consider the elements of self-defense in determining whether a movant has met his burden:

(1) he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) he actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger; (3) if his defense is based upon his actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984).

If the judge finds a defendant has failed to satisfy one of the first two elements of self-defense, he may deny immunity and the case may proceed to trial. *See State v. Bixby*, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010) (“It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not been established if any one element is disproven.”) However, if a trial court finds a defendant has only failed to prove reasonable fear, if the defendant was attacked while attempting to remove another from a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle that belonged to him, the Act provides a rebuttable presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril and the judge must apply it

accordingly. S.C. Code §§16-11-440(A) and (B) (2015). However, if the place of the event was not a residence, dwelling, or occupied vehicle, and/or the victim also had an equal right to be where the defendant was when the event occurred, the defendant is not entitled to the presumption of reasonable fear and must apply and analyze Section (C) at his hearing and prove (1) he was not engaged in unlawful activity; (2) he was attacked; (3) he was in a place he had the right to be; and (4) he reasonably believed the use of deadly force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or others. S.C. Code § 16-11-440(C) (2015); *Jones*, 416 S.C. at 294–97, 301, 786 S.E.2d at 138–39, 142. If he proves all of the above elements, the court must conclude he had no duty to retreat and had the right to meet force with force, including deadly force. *Id.* The standard for determining whether the belief was reasonable is objective rather than subjective. *Douglas*, 411 S.C. at 320, 768 S.E.2d at 239.¹

For the reasons that follow, the court properly denied Appellant immunity after considering all of the evidence presented and the arguments of the parties. Regardless of whether the trial court “set forth every detail of its analysis in the record, the record is nevertheless adequate for a reviewing court to determine that the [trial] court applied the correct burden of proof and made

¹ At the time of Appellant’s October 14, 2019 immunity hearing, our appellate courts had not yet established the requirement that judges place their findings of fact and conclusions of law for each *individual* element of self-defense on the record. *See State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C. 108, 117–18, 123, 838 S.E.2d 491, 496, 499 (2019); *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 375 n.3, 752 S.E.2d 263, 268 n.3 (2013) (noting “the Act is silent on the procedure to follow when an accused seeks immunity and *Duncan* interprets the Act to require a pretrial determination by the trial court”) (citing *Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011)).

The trial court was not required to “follow th[e elemental structure] with precision” at the time, and appellate courts “glean[ed] from [trial court’s orders] the necessary findings of fact to support the conclusion that [a defendant] has established the four elements of self-defense. *State v. Scott*, 424 S.C. at 463, 469, 819 S.E.2d 116, 118 (2018).

findings that supported its denial of immunity consistent with a correct application of this Court's precedent." *State v. Andrews*, 427 S.C. 178, 182, 830 S.E.2d 12, 14 (2019).

I.

The trial judge correctly denied Appellant's request for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act because he was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty and had other probable means of avoiding it. He therefore did not meet his burden of proving the elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence and analysis under S.C. Code § 16-11-440(C) was unnecessary. The trial judge correctly held Appellant had a duty to retreat before using deadly force.

The Appellant argues the trial judge improperly found he had a duty to retreat before firing his weapon and killing the victim. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. The trial judge correctly found Appellant had not met elements one and four of self-defense by a preponderance, and, as a result, had a duty to retreat before using deadly force.

Relevant Facts

Prior to trial, Appellant made a motion to be granted immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code. Ann. §§16-11-410 to 450 (2015) and the procedure set forth in *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). R. 4, L. 1–24. After the parties made their arguments, the judge denied Appellant immunity and sent the case to a jury. R. 137, L. 21–22. The hearing was held on October 14, 2019. R. 10, L. 6.

Walter Murrey's Testimony

Walter Murrey testified first at the pretrial immunity hearing. R. 3, L. 7–13, R. 10, L. 6. He said that when they were at the barbeque, Brandon Cummings approached their group and asked for a light. R. 15, L. 23–24. He related that even though he had never met Cummings before, R. 52, L. 15–17, he watched him "walk around the hotel both sides up and down the stairs going up to different rooms . . . one time he passed by he put his hands up like as if they were guns going like this, but I, I tried to pay it no mind." R. 16, L. 7–11, 14–16. Someone at the

cookout told him that Cummings was the one who had robbed Caleb Gomez of his marijuana money, but it came out later that it actually might have been Cummings' brother who had robbed him instead. R. 13, L. 2–6, R. 80, L. 13–25, R. 81, L. 1–25. Murrey admitted that he did not have an encounter with Cummings up close at the barbeque but only saw him “walking by us one time making like he was shooting at us.” R. 54, L. 5–7.

When the cookout ended, I went in my room. I disconnected the speaker from my phone. I got my headphones, put my headphones in, and I started talking to a friend on the phone, and I left out of my room. I didn't see the guys. So, I walk[ed] around the backside of the hotel to go to they room where they room is at. When I got to the first back corner, when I turned the corner, right when I turned the corner, Brandon was coming the opposite way.

So we kind of met right on the corner, and he said what's up. I said what's up. He said what's up then. I said I'm just saying hey. I'm on the phone. And he said oh, that's what I thought. So I just kept walking

R. 18, L. 1–14.

Murrey said the hotel was shaped like a “U” and he had met Cummings on the corner maybe “a door or two doors past my room.” R. 19, L. 6–8. He then proceeded around to the back of the hotel where his coworkers' room was. R. 19, L. 13.

I kept walking. I got around the second corner. I got to Rafael and them room. I knock on they door. And so [there was] a guy come down the opposite side of the breezeway [I]t sounded like, in a gay voice, he said can I come in your room. That's his exact words. I was like what do you mean.

R. 19, L. 6–16, R. 54, L. 8–25, R. 55, L. 1–25.

“It made me scared.” R. 55, L. 15–18. “I felt like, you know . . . he could be a real threat. Especially by his size.” R. 67, L. 9–10. He did not know if the man was with Cummings. R. 67, L. 5–7.

He then went back to his room a second time. R. 19, L. 21–25.

When I went in my room, I put the gun in my pocket before I got back out cause I wanted to go to sleep. But then I wanted to make sure the guys was all right with all that happened at the hotel So when I left out the room, I already went the other way, and I didn't see nobody. So, at this time, I went the opposite way to see if I'll see them. So, that's when I went the opposite way, there's a breezeway coming up on my left.

R. 19, L. 20–25, R. 20, L. 20–24.

When he turned the corner, he saw Gomez backed up against the wall by the stairs and the ice machine talking to Cummings. R. 21, L. 1–3, 23, R. 22, L. 4.

Murrey stepped in and asked him whether he knew Gomez and Cummings said no so Murrey said, “[There is] no sense in arguing with somebody you don’t know. Just leave.” R. 21, L. 23. Rodriguez and Shelton, both of whom were Murrey’s co-workers, were also there. R. 21, L. 4–19. Murrey said he stepped in because he wanted to be the peacemaker. R. 49, L. 7–8.

[Rodriguez and Shelton] were pretty much behind [Cummings] in different areas, and I was kind of on the side of him and Caleb. So, soon as I walked up I can tell something wasn’t right. So, I tried to deescalate whatever was going on.

At that point he started back at Caleb again . . . to make the altercation worse, and I was like do you really know him. And then he said no again but still looking at Caleb like all the way up on him At that point it got silent for a couple seconds . . . and Rafael said why are you here . . . ?

R. 21, L. 4–25, R. 22, L. 1–10.

[A] remark was made . . . [and] Brandon exploded saying this is my town. This my hotel. I run this. Y’all not from around here. They don’t have no cameras. I’m going to be back. All you gonna hear is gunshots clapping his hands as he walked going past our room toward the back.

R. 22, L. 12–17.

I was shaking, you know, because he had done been going in his pockets already [a]t that point, when I got towards the end corner of the building, he had done already disappeared. When I got to the corner, I seen him again coming back, and, fearing for my life. And when I – after I finish shooting, and I notice that he had done went down, I knew that was my opportunity to get to my room and safety

R. 23, L. 1–11, R. 24, L. 1–4.

When Murrey was asked whether Cummings was walking toward him at the time of the shooting, he said, “[i]t was hard to see. It was dark, but he had to [have] been coming back because he had done passed the corner” R. 24, L. 5–9. When asked whether he saw

anything in Cummings' hand, he said, "It looks like he had something, but it was so dark, you know, I took him at his word because, if he was telling the truth, that would be my life especially with him saying all you gonna hear is gunshots." R. 24, L. 10–14. He said he believed Cummings was armed. R. 24, L. 18–19.

On cross-examination, Murrey was asked how many rounds he fired and he said "seven rounds. I think I shot at least four or five times" with a .22 caliber gun he allegedly found in a hole in Augusta. R. 25, L. 20–25, R. 26, L. 8–14. He said he threw the gun into the woods after he got to his co-workers' room post-shooting. R. 32, L. 23–24, R. 33, L. 1–2. He admitted he did not talk to the police, or anyone for that matter, about his claim that he had to shoot Cummings to protect himself from May 17 to July 6, 2017. R. 39, L. 12–17, R. 46, L. 19–21. He said he was escorting Shelton, Rodriguez, and Gomez around the hotel because he was the only one armed, R. 36, L. 6, R. 3, L. 12, even though no one else knew he had a gun. R. 58, L. 8–9. "They were right behind me [when the shooting occurred]." R. 35, L. 23, R. 37. 15–17.

He said "[Brandon] say he was leaving or coming back to shoot us. He was on his way back. He had done left." R. 36, L. 20–21. He denied following Cummings and continued to insist he was "walking [his co-workers] to their room." R. 37, L. 1–12. "[J]ust in case he was serious, I walked them to their room so they could be safe before I go to my room." R. 37, L. 11–12. "And you didn't see a gun on Brandon?" "I don't know if he had a gun." R. 59, L. 14–15. "It was dark. I can't see good at night . . . I could see nothing but blurry people." R. 59, L. 14, 18, R. 70, L. 14–23. "I had to take him at his word cause that's my life." R. 59, L. 22. He said he shot "all at once" from ten to twelve feet away. R. 62, L. 18–23.

Caleb Gomez's Testimony

Caleb Gomez testified that he was 23 years old and he was from North Augusta. R. 71, L.

23–25. When asked about Cummings, he said:

[T]here [was] a guy walking around the . . . hotel, and I asked him if he could give me some bud and he said yea . . . I gave him the money, and then he came into my car after having gone to get it, and he was kind of acting like he didn't . . . want to give it to me . . . he was sending me around in circles circling blocks . . . he was in my car. He wouldn't give me the weed and he wouldn't give me my money back.

R. 73, L. 1–25, R. 74, L. 4–5.

Gomez said he was drunk the night of the shooting and only heard the gunshots because he had said “f this shit” and started going back to his room after his encounter with Cummings. R. 83, L. 6–25, R. 84, L. 20–21. He made a “beeline” for his room and grabbed a bucket just in case he threw up from all of the alcohol. R. 84, L. 17, 22–23. Although he thought Cummings was going to rob, bully or intimidate him the night of the shooting – “Just the way his demeanor, his tone, the way he was looking at me, the way he was mocking us the whole time . . . he literally said he was going to send shots” – he didn't know where Cummings was and “didn't care” when he headed back to his room to go to bed. R. 75, L. 19–24, R. 76, L. 10–11, R. 83, L. 6–25. He said Cummings said he was going to *come back the next day* and “that he'd kill us.” R. 82, L. 17–20 (emphasis added). He did not know Murrey had a gun and he did not talk to the police about what he had heard or seen. R. 85, L. 1–2, 5–7.

Rafael Rodriguez's Testimony

Rodriguez testified that he was 31 years old from Aiken. R. 91, L. 1–3. He said when he saw Cummings that night, “the vibe was already there” and Cummings was “all over the hotel.” R. 93, L. 2–3, R. 94, L. 9–12. He said he had heard to watch out for “a skinny black male stealing things” in Sumter, and that Cummings made him afraid because of the clapping that

“makes you know that, that somebody’s coming for you.” R. 95, L. 20–22. Right before the shooting, he heard a threat and heard Cummings clapping his hands. R. 96, L. 11–14, R. 97, L. 10–16. He said he had asked Cummings to go away that night because he was a troublemaker, R. 107, L. 10–18, and that Cummings was in the process of leaving when Murrey followed him. R. 103, L. 14–25. He said he, too, had been drinking that night and was headed back to his room – the opposite way from Cummings – to go to bed when he heard the gunshots. R. 104, L. 14–16, R. 105, L. 12–15. He knew Murrey had shot Cummings but he, too, did not talk to the police that night. R. 97, L. 24–25, R. 100, L. 23–25.

Lashay Andrews’ Testimony

Lashay Andrews testified she drove to the Quality Inn that night with her boyfriend, Brandon Cummings, whom she had known since she was a child. R. 100, L. 8–25. She dropped him off on the backside of the hotel so he could buy weed around 9:15 or 9:20 PM, and then walked to the hotel’s restroom. R. 110, L. 16–21, R. 112, L. 2–5, 120, L. 4, 7–9. When she returned to her car five minutes later, she saw Cummings walking down the outdoor steps toward her with Murrey. R. 112, L. 6–20. “[Murrey] was right up behind him.” R. 174, L. 20–22.

I saw – I heard commotion going on, but it’s like Brandon. He argues, but he usually just be playing. And I heard the arguing and stuff, and I heard Brandon turning around and he was coming down the steps, but he was walking real fast, and Walter was walking real fast behind him . . . [s]o, Brandon he was saying fuck you, nigga, and then he was like, you know, leave me alone. I’m ‘bout to go. So that’s when . . . Walter pulled out the gun and shot him the first time in the head. He went down.

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